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COM 
GENTILE CRISTALLI 
MILLER ARMENI SAVARESE 
DOMINIC P. GENTILE 
Nevada Bar No. 1923 
Email:  dgentile@gcmaslaw.com 
MICHAEL V. CRISTALLI 
Nevada Bar No. 6266 
Email: mcristalli@gcmaslaw.com 
ROSS MILLER 
Nevada Bar No. 8190 
Email: rmiller@gcmaslaw.com 
VINCENT SAVARESE III 
Nevada Bar No. 2467 
Email:  vsavarese@gcmaslaw.com  
410 South Rampart Blvd., Suite 420 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 
Tel:  (702) 880-0000 
Fax: (702) 778-9709 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
SERENITY WELLNESS CENTER, LLC, a 
Nevada limited liability company, TGIG, LLC, a 
Nevada limited liability company, NULEAF 
INCLINE DISPENSARY, LLC, a Nevada 
limited liability company, NEVADA HOLISTIC 
MEDICINE, LLC, a Nevada limited liability 
company, TRYKE COMPANIES SO NV, LLC, 
a Nevada limited liability company, TRYKE 
COMPANIES RENO, LLC, a Nevada limited 
liability company, PARADISE WELLNESS 
CENTER, LLC, a Nevada limited liability 
company, GBS NEVADA PARTNERS, LLC, a 
Nevada limited liability company, FIDELIS 
HOLDINGS, LLC, a Nevada limited liability 
company, GRAVITAS NEVADA, LLC, a 
Nevada limited liability company, NEVADA 
PURE, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company, 
MEDIFARM, LLC, a Nevada limited liability 
company, DOE PLAINTIFFS I through X; and 
ROE ENTITY PLAINTIFFS I through X,  
  
         Plaintiffs, 
 
vs. 
 
THE STATE OF NEVADA, DEPARTMENT 
OF TAXATION,  
 
                                           Defendant. 

 

CASE NO.:    
DEPT. NO.:    
 
 
COMPLAINT   
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Plaintiffs, SERENITY WELLNESS CENTER, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company, 

TGIG, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company, NULEAF INCLINE DISPENSARY, LLC, a  

Nevada limited liability company, NEVADA HOLISTIC MEDICINE, LLC, a Nevada limited 

liability company, TRYKE COMPANIES SO NV, LLC a Nevada limited liability company, 

TRYKE COMPANIES RENO, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company, PARADISE 

WELLNESS CENTER, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company, GBS NEVADA PARTNERS, 

LLC, a Nevada limited liability company, FIDELIS HOLDINGS, LLC, a Nevada limited 

liability company, GRAVITAS NEVADA, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company, NEVADA 

PURE, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company, MEDIFARM, LLC, a Nevada limited liability 

company; DOE PLAINTIFFS I through X; and ROE ENTITIES I through X, by and through 

their counsel, DOMINIC P. GENTILE, ESQ. and VINCENT SAVARESE III, ESQ., MICHAEL 

V. CRISTALLI, ESQ., and ROSS MILLER, ESQ., of the law firm of Gentile Cristalli Miller 

Armeni Savarese, hereby complain and allege against DEFENDANT STATE OF NEVADA, 

DEPARTMENT OF TAXATION; DOE DEFENDANTS I through X; and ROE ENTITY 

DEFENDANTS I through X, in their official and personal capacities, as follows: 

I. 

PARTIES, JURISDICTION, AND VENUE 

 1. Plaintiff SERENITY WELLNESS CENTER, LLC, was and is a Nevada limited 

liability company and does business in Clark County, Nevada. 

 2. Plaintiff TGIG, LLC, was and is a Nevada limited liability company and does 

business in Clark County, Nevada. 

3. Plaintiff NULEAF INCLINE DISPENSARY, LLC, was and is a Nevada limited 

liability company and does business in Clark County, Nevada. 

 4. Plaintiff NEVADA HOLISTIC MEDICINE, LLC, was and is a Nevada limited 

liability company and does business in Clark County, Nevada. 

 5. Plaintiff TRYKE COMPANIES SO NV, LLC was and is a Nevada limited 
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liability company and does business in Clark County, Nevada. 

 6. Plaintiff TRYKE COMPANIES RENO, LLC, was and is a Nevada limited 

liability company and does business in Clark County, Nevada. 

 7. Plaintiff PARADISE WELLNESS CENTER, LLC, was and is a Nevada limited 

liability company and does business in Clark County, Nevada. 

 8. Plaintiff GBS NEVADA PARTNERS, LLC, was and is a Nevada limited liability 

company and does business in Clark County, Nevada. 

 9. Plaintiff FIDELIS HOLDINGS, LLC, was and is a Nevada limited liability 

company and does business in Clark County, Nevada. 

 10. Plaintiff GRAVITAS NEVADA, LLC, was and is a Nevada limited liability 

company and does business in Clark County, Nevada. 

 11. Plaintiff NEVADPURE, LLC, was and is a Nevada limited liability company and 

does business in Clark County, Nevada. 

 12. Plaintiff MEDIFARM, LLC was and is a Nevada limited liability company and 

does business in Clark County, Nevada. 

 13. Defendant STATE OF NEVADA, DEPARTMENT OF TAXATION (the 

“Department”) is an agency of the State of Nevada. The Department is responsible for licensing 

and regulating retail marijuana businesses in Nevada through its Marijuana Enforcement 

Division. 

14.  The true names and capacities, whether individual, corporate, association or 

otherwise of Doe Plaintiffs I through X, Roe Entity Plaintiffs I through X; Doe Defendants I 

through X; and Roe Entity Defendants I through X, inclusive, are unknown to Plaintiffs at 

this time, who therefore sue said Defendants by such fictitious names. Plaintiffs are informed 

and believe, and thereupon allege, that each of the Defendants designated herein as Doe 

and/or Roe Entities is responsible in some manner for the events and occurrences herein 

referred to, and in some manner caused the injuries and damages to Plaintiffs alleged herein. 

And Plaintiffs will ask leave of the Court to amend this Complaint to insert the true names 

and capacities of all Doe and/or Roe Entity Plaintiffs and Defendants when the same have 
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been ascertained by Plaintiffs, together with the appropriate charging allegations, and to join 

such parties in this action. 

 15. Both jurisdiction and venue with respect to this action properly lie in this Court 

pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat. § 13.040. 

II. 

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

16. The Nevada State Legislature passed a number of bills during the 2017 

legislative session that affected the licensing, regulation, and operation of recreational marijuana 

establishments in the state of Nevada. One of those bills, Assembly Bill 422, transferred 

responsibility for the registration, licensing, and regulation of marijuana establishments from the 

State of Nevada's Division of Public and Behavioral Health to the Department of Taxation. 

17. This legislation was added to the the voters’ approval at the 2016 General 

Election of 2016 initiative petition, Ballot Question No. 2; is known as the “Regulation and 

Taxation of Marijuana Act”; and is codified at NRS 453D.010, et seq.Nevada Revised Statutes 

(“NRS”) pursuant to  

18. NRS 453D.020 (Findings and declarations) provides: 

      “1.  In the interest of public health and public safety, and in 

order to better focus state and local law enforcement resources on 

crimes involving violence and personal property, the People of the 

State of Nevada find and declare that the use of marijuana should 

be legal for persons 21 years of age or older, and its cultivation and 

sale should be regulated similar to other legal businesses. 

      2.  The People of the State of Nevada find and declare that the 

cultivation and sale of marijuana should be taken from the domain 

of criminals and be regulated under a controlled system, where 

businesses will be taxed and the revenue will be dedicated to 

public education and the enforcement of the regulations of this 

chapter. 

      3.  The People of the State of Nevada proclaim that marijuana 

should be regulated in a manner similar to alcohol so that: 

      (a) Marijuana may only be purchased from a business that is 

licensed by the State of Nevada; 

      (b) Business owners are subject to a review by the State of 

Nevada to confirm that the business owners and the business 

location are suitable to produce or sell marijuana; 
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      (c) Cultivating, manufacturing, testing, transporting and 

selling marijuana will be strictly controlled through state licensing 

and regulation; 

      (d) Selling or giving marijuana to persons under 21 years of 

age shall remain illegal; 

      (e) Individuals will have to be 21 years of age or older to 

purchase marijuana; 

      (f) Driving under the influence of marijuana will remain 

illegal; and  

      (g) Marijuana sold in the State will be tested and labeled.” 

 

19. NRS 453D.200 (Duties of Department relating to regulation and licensing of  

marijuana establishments; information about consumers) provides:     

“1.  Not later than January 1, 2018, the Department shall adopt all 

regulations necessary or convenient to carry out the provisions of 

this chapter. The regulations must not prohibit the operation of 

marijuana establishments, either expressly or through regulations 

that make their operation unreasonably impracticable. The 

regulations shall include: 

      (a) Procedures for the issuance, renewal, suspension, and 

revocation of a license to operate a marijuana establishment; 

      (b) Qualifications for licensure that are directly and 

demonstrably related to the operation of a marijuana 

establishment; 

…. 

2.  The Department shall approve or deny applications for 

licenses pursuant to NRS 453D.210” (emphasis added). 

 

20. NRS 453D.210 (Acceptance of applications for licensing; priority in licensing; 

conditions for approval of application; limitations on issuance of licenses to retail marijuana 

stores; competing applications), in turn, provides, in pertinent part: 

“4.  Upon receipt of a complete marijuana establishment license 

application, the Department shall, within 90 days: 

      (a) Issue the appropriate license if the license application is 

approved. 

5.  The Department shall approve a license application if: 

      (a) The prospective marijuana establishment has submitted an 

application in compliance with regulations adopted by the 

Department and the application fee required pursuant to NRS 

453D.2; 

6.  When competing applications are submitted for a proposed 

retail marijuana store within a single county, the Department shall 

use an impartial and numerically scored competitive bidding 

process to determine which application or applications among 

those competing will be approved” (emphasis added).  

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-453D.html#NRS453DSec210
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-453D.html#NRS453DSec230
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-453D.html#NRS453DSec230
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21. According to an August 16, 2018 letter from the Department, pursuant to 

Section 80(3) of Adopted Regulation of the Department of Taxation, LCB File No. R092-17 

("R092-17"), the Department was responsible for allocating the licenses of recreational 

marijuana retail stores "to jurisdictions within each county and to the unincorporated area of 

the county proportionally based on the population of each jurisdiction and of the 

unincorporated area of the county.” 

22. The Department issued a notice for an application period wherein the 

Department sought applications from qualified applicants to award sixty-four (64) recreational 

marijuana retail store licenses throughout various jurisdictions in Nevada.  

23. The application period for those licenses, including thirty-one (31) licenses in 

Clark County, seven (7) licenses in Washoe County and one (1) license in Nye County, opened 

on September 7, 2018 and closed on September 20, 2018.   

24. Pursuant to Section 6.2 of the Recreational Marijuana Establishment License 

Application (“the Application”) issued by the Department, as enabled under the above-quoted 

provisions of NRS 453D.210, if the Department received more than one application for a license 

for a recreational marijuana retail store and the Department determined that more than one of the 

applications was complete and in compliance with R092-17, Sec. 78 and NRS 453D, the Department 

was required to rank the applications within each applicable locality for any applicants in a 

jurisdiction that limits the number of retail marijuana stores in order from first to last, with ranking 

being based on compliance with the provisions of R092-17 Sec. 80, NRS 453D and on the content of 

the applications relating to the following specifically-enumerated and objective published criteria: 

a. Operating experience of another kind of business by the owners, officers or board 

members that has given them experience which is applicable to the operation of a 

marijuana establishment. 

b. Diversity of the owners, officers or board members. 

c. Evidence of the amount of taxes paid and other beneficial financial contributions. 

d. Educational achievements of the owners, officers or board members. 
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e. The applicant’s plan for care, quality and safekeeping of marijuana from seed to 

sale. 

f. The financial plan and resources of the applicant, both liquid and illiquid. 

g. The experience of key personnel that the applicant intends to employ. 

h. Direct experience of the owners, officers, or board members of a medical 

marijuana establishment or marijuana establishment in this State. 

25. However, no numerical scoring values are assigned to any of the foregoing 

criteria enumerated in the Application. 

26. Moreover, Section 6.3 of the Application further provides that “[a]pplications 

that have not demonstrated a sufficient response related to the criteria set forth above will not 

have additional [unspecified, unpublished] criteria considered in determining whether to issue a 

license and will not move forward in the application process” (emphasis added). 

27.   Thus, by necessary implication, conversely, Section 6.3 of the Application 

textually subjects an Application which has in fact demonstrated a “sufficient” response related 

to the specific, published criteria set forth above to “additional [unspecified, unpublished] 

criteria,” consideration of which by the Department will determine whether or not a license is 

issued and whether or not a license Application will “move forward in the application process, 

notwithstanding the textual requirement of NRS 453 D. 200.1(b) that the Department shall adopt 

only regulations that prescribe “[q]ualifications for licensure that are directly and demonstrably 

related to the operation of a marijuana establishment” (emphasis added).   

28.  No later than December 5, 2018, the Department was responsible for issuing 

conditional licenses to those applicants who score and rank high enough in each jurisdiction to be 

awarded one of the allocated licenses in accordance with the impartial competitive bidding process 

mandated by NRS 453D.210.  

29. The Department allocated ten (10) licenses for unincorporated Clark County, 

Nevada; ten (10) licenses for Las Vegas, Nevada; six (6) licenses for Henderson, Nevada; five (5) 

licenses for North Las Vegas, Nevada; six (6) licenses for Reno, Nevada; one (1) license for Sparks, 

Nevada; and one (1) license for Nye County, Nevada. 
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30. Plaintiffs submitted Applications for licenses to own and operate recreational  

marijuana retail stores in compliance with the specified, published requirements of Department 

regulations together with the required application fee in accordance with NRS 453D.210. 

 31. Plaintiffs have been informed by the Department that all of their Applications to 

operate recreational marijuana retail stores were denied. 

32. In each instance, Plaintiffs were informed by letter from the Department stating 

that a license was not granted to the applicant “because it did not achieve a score high enough to 

receive an available license.” 

33. On information and belief, Plaintiffs allege that the Department’s denial of their 

license applications was not properly based upon actual implementation of the impartial and 

objective competitive bidding process mandated by NRS 453D.210, but rather, was in fact based 

upon the arbitrary and capricious exercise of administrative partiality and favoritism. 

34. On information and belief, Plaintiffs allege conversely that that the Department 

improperly granted licenses to other competing applicants, likewise without actual 

implementation of the impartial and objective competitive bidding process mandated by NRS 

453D.210, but rather, based upon the arbitrary and capricious exercise of administrative 

partiality and favoritism. 

 35.  On information and belief, Plaintiffs allege that the Department has improperly 

granted more than one recreational marijuana store license per jurisdiction to certain applicants, 

owners, or ownership groups. 

III. 

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Violation of Civil Rights) 

(Due Process: Deprivation of Property) 

(U.S. Const., Amendment XIV; Nev. Const., Art. 1, Sec. 1, 8; Title 42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

36. Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege all prior paragraphs as though fully set forth  

herein. 
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 37. The provisions of NRS 453D.200.2 and NRS 453D.210.4-6, affirmatively 

mandating that the Department “shall” approve and issue the appropriate license within a time 

certain if the prospective establishment submits an Application in compliance with published 

Department regulations promulgated in accordance with the limitations imposed by NRS 453. 

D.200.1(b) together with the required application fee; and, in the case of competing 

Applications, outranks competing applicants in accordance with an objective, impartial and 

numerically scored competitive bidding process, serve to create, as a matter of legislative intent, 

a statutory entitlement to receipt of the license by applicants who comply with and prevail 

competitively in accordance with those objective and impartial standards and procedures. 

38. Such a statutory entitlement constitutes a “property interest” within the meaning 

and subject to the due process protections of the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of 

the United States and Article 1, Sections 1 and 8 of the Constitution of the State of Nevada; and 

therefore, by definition, may not be denied arbitrarily, capriciously, corruptly or based upon 

administrative partiality or favoritism. 

39. However, acting under color of state law, the Department has effectively nullified 

and rendered illusory the legislative statutory entitlement to licensure of applicants who comply 

with and prevail competitively in accordance with the objective and impartial standards and 

procedures prescribed by the provisions of NRS 453D.200.2 and NRS 453D.210.4-6, by 

textually subjecting an Application which in fact provides “sufficient” responses related to the 

published, enumerated and specific criteria set forth in the Application to approval pursuant to 

further, unpublished, unspecified and unascertainable “additional criteria” which are not set forth 

therein, as a silent supplemental condition of licensure, thereby rendering the administrative 

regulation governing the Application and licensing process susceptible to ad hoc, non-

transparent, arbitrary, capricious or corrupt decision-making based upon administrative partiality 

or favoritism which cannot be discounted; thereby rendering that regulatory scheme 

unconstitutional on its face. 

40.  On information and belief, Plaintiffs further allege that pursuant to the 

implementation of the foregoing constitutionally-repugnant licensing process, the denial of their 
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Applications for licensure, were in fact affected by actual arbitrary, capricious or corrupt 

decision-making based upon administrative partiality or favoritism; and therefore, that that 

licensing process has thereby been rendered unconstitutional in its application as well as to 

Plaintiffs. 

41.  Plaintiffs have therefore been deprived of property without due process under 

color of state law in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United 

States and Article 1, Sections 1 and 8 of the Constitution of the State of Nevada. 

42. The Constitutional infirmity of the entire licensing process renders the denial of 

Plaintiffs’ Applications for licensure void and unenforceable, and Plaintiffs are entitled to a 

declaration as to the ineffectiveness thereof and an order enjoining the enforcement of those 

license denials. 

43. Plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory relief with respect to the forgoing federal  

constitutional infirmities of the administrative licensing scheme pursuant to the provisions of 

Title 42, United States Code (“U.S.C.”), Section 1983 and otherwise. 

44. Plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory relief because a justiciable controversy exists 

that warrants a declaratory judgment pursuant to Nevada's Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act, 

codified at NRS 30.010 to 30.160, inclusive.  

45. Plaintiffs and Defendant have adverse and/or competing interests in that the 

Department, through its Marijuana Enforcement Division, has denied Plaintiffs’ Applications in 

in violation of Plaintiff's constitutional rights, Nevada law, and state policy. 

46. The Department's refusal to issue licenses to Plaintiffs affects Plaintiffs’ rights 

under NRS 453D, NAC 453D, R092-17, and other Nevada laws and regulations. 

47. Further, the Department's improper ranking of other applicants for licensure and 

subsequent, improper issuance of licenses to such other applicants adversely affects the rights of 

Plaintiff under NRS 453D, NAC 453D, R09217, and other Nevada laws and regulations. 

48. The Department's actions and/or inactions also have created an actual justiciable 

controversy ripe for judicial determination between Plaintiffs and the Department with respect to 

the construction, interpretation, and implementation of NRS 453D, NAC 453D, and R092-17, 
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and Plaintiffs have been harmed, and will continue to be harmed, by the Defendants' actions 

and/or inactions. 

 49. The Department's actions and/or inactions have further failed to appropriately 

address the necessary considerations and legislative intent of NRS 453D.210, designed to restrict 

monopolies.  

50.       Accordingly, Plaintiff seeks a declaration from this Court that, inter alia: 

a. The Department improperly denied Plaintiffs’ license Applications for the 

operation of a recreational marijuana establishment. 

b. The denial of such licenses to Plaintiffs was void ab initio;  

c. The procedures employed in denying Plaintiffs’ license Applications violated 

Plaintiffs’ procedural and substantive due process rights and entitlement to 

equal protection of the law (as set forth infra) under the Nevada and United 

States Constitutions and, therefore, those license denials are void and 

unenforceable; 

d. The denials are void for vagueness and therefore unenforceable;  

e. Defendant acted arbitrarily and capriciously or in contravention of a legal duty 

and Plaintiffs are therefore entitled to a writ of mandamus; 

f. Plaintiffs are entitled to judicial review; and  

g. The Department’s denial of Plaintiffs’ license Applications lacked substantial 

evidence. 

51. Plaintiffs also seek a declaration from this Court that the Department must issue 

licenses to Plaintiffs for the operation of a recreational marijuana establishment as applied for in 

that Plaintiffs’ would have been entitled to receive said licenses had the Department properly 

applied the provisions of NRS 453D, NAC Chapter 453D, and R092-17. 

52. Plaintiffs contend that a declaratory judgment is both necessary and proper at 

this time for the Court to determine the respective rights, duties, responsibilities and liabilities 

of Plaintiffs under NRS 453D, NAC Chapter 453D, R092-17, and other Nevada laws and 

regulations.  
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 53. Plaintiffs are also entitled to injunctive relief from the foregoing federal 

constitutional violations pursuant to the provisions of 42 U.S.C. Section 1983 and otherwise. 

 54. The Department's flawed interpretation of the provisions of NRS 453D, NAC 

Chapter 453D, and R092-17, and refusal to issue "conditional" licenses in accordance with the 

law constitute and cause continuing and irreparable harm to Plaintiffs, who have no adequate 

remedy at law. 

 55. The purpose of this administrative refusal was and is to unreasonably interfere 

with Plaintiffs’ business and cause Plaintiffs to suffer irreparable harm.  

 56. The Department will suffer no harm by following the law with respect to issuing 

the licenses in question. 

 57. The Department's interpretation of NRS 453D, NAC Chapter 453D, and R092-17 

is flawed and Plaintiffs are likely to succeed on the merits in this litigation.  

 58. The public interest favors Plaintiffs because in the absence of injunctive relief, the 

consumers who would have benefitted by Plaintiffs’ licensure will have less available options 

from which they can receive recreational marijuana in accordance with legislative intent. 

 59. Therefore, Plaintiffs are entitled to preliminary injunctive relief, and after a trial 

on the merits, permanent injunctive relief, ordering the Department to issue the subject licenses 

to Plaintiffs in accordance with NRS 453D, NAC 453D, and R092-17. 

 60. Plaintiffs are also entitled to damages attributable to the above-identified due 

process violations pursuant to the provisions of 42 U.S.C. Section 1983 and otherwise. 

 61. As the actions of the Department have necessitated that Plaintiffs retain the legal 

services of Gentile Cristalli Miller Armeni Savarese, and incur fees and costs to bring this action, 

Plaintiffs are also entitled to an award of attorneys' fees and costs of suit.   

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Violation of Civil Rights) 

(Due Process: Deprivation of Liberty) 

(U.S. Const., Amendment XIV; Nev. Const., Art. 1, Sec. 1, 8; Title 42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

62. Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege all prior paragraphs as though fully set forth herein. 
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63. The fundamental constitutional right to pursue a lawful occupation constitutes a 

“liberty interest” within the meaning and subject to the due process protections of the Fourteenth 

Amendment to the Constitution of the United States and Article 1, Sections 1 and 8 of the 

Constitution of the State of Nevada; and therefore, by definition, may not be denied arbitrarily, 

capriciously, corruptly or based upon administrative partiality or favoritism. 

64. However, acting under color of state law, the Department has effectively nullified 

and rendered illusory the legislative statutory entitlement to licensure of applicants who comply 

with and prevail competitively in accordance with the objective and impartial standards and 

procedures prescribed by the provisions of NRS 453D.200.2 and NRS 453D.210.4-6, by 

textually subjecting an Application which in fact provides “sufficient” responses related to the 

published, enumerated and specific criteria set forth in the Application to approval pursuant to 

further, unpublished, unspecified and unascertainable “additional criteria” which are not set forth 

therein, as a silent supplemental condition of licensure, in violation of NRS 200.D.1(b) thereby 

rendering the administrative regulation governing the Application and licensing process 

susceptible to ad hoc, non-transparent, arbitrary, capricious or corrupt decision-making based 

upon administrative partiality or favoritism which cannot be discounted; thereby rendering that 

regulatory scheme unconstitutional on its face. 

65.  On information and belief, Plaintiffs further allege that the pursuant to the 

implementation of the foregoing constitutionally-repugnant licensing process, the denial of their 

Applications for licensure, were in fact affected by actual arbitrary, capricious or corrupt 

decision-making based upon administrative partiality or favoritism; and therefore, that that 

licensing process has thereby been rendered unconstitutional in its application as well. 

66.  Plaintiffs have therefore likewise been deprived of liberty without due process 

under color of state law in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the 

United States and Article 1, Sections 1 and 8 of the Constitution of the State of Nevada. 

 67. The Constitutional infirmity of the entire licensing process renders the denial of 

Plaintiffs’ Applications for licensure void and unenforceable, and, for the reasons set forth supra 

in Plaintiffs’ FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION at paragraphs 30 through 47, inclusive, Plaintiffs are 
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entitled to a declaration as to the ineffectiveness thereof and an order enjoining the enforcement 

of those license denials.  

 68. Plaintiffs are also entitled to damages for these due process violations pursuant 

to the provisions of 42 U.S.C. Section 1983 and otherwise.  

 69. As the actions of the Department have necessitated that Plaintiffs retain the legal 

services of Gentile Cristalli Miller Armeni Savarese, and incur fees and costs to bring this action, 

Plaintiffs are also entitled to an award of attorneys' fees and costs of suit.   

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Violation of Civil Rights) 

(Equal Protection) 

(U.S. Const., Amendment XIV; Nev. Const., Art. 1, Sec. 1; Title 42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

70. Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege all prior paragraphs as though fully set forth herein. 

 71. By improperly denying Plaintiffs’ Applications for licensure under the provisions 

of NRS 453D.200.2 and NRS 453D.210.4-6 while improperly granting the Applications of other 

applicants under color of state law as set forth supra in Plaintiffs’ FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

and SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION, the Department has, without justification, disparately 

treated Plaintiffs’ Applications absent rational basis, and has thereby violated Plaintiffs’ rights to 

equal protection of the law as guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of 

the United States and Article 1, Section 1 of the Constitution of the State of Nevada. 

 72. The constitutional infirmity of the entire licensing process and the resulting denial 

of equal protection renders the denial of Plaintiffs’ Applications for licensure void and 

unenforceable, and, for the reasons set forth supra in Plaintiffs’ FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION at 

paragraphs 30 through 47, inclusive, Plaintiffs are entitled to a declaration as to the 

ineffectiveness thereof and an order enjoining the enforcement of those license denials.  

 73. Plaintiffs are also entitled to damages for these equal protection violations 

pursuant to the provisions of 42 U.S.C. Section 1983 and otherwise.  

 74. As the actions of the Department have necessitated that Plaintiffs retain the legal 

services of Gentile Cristalli Miller Armeni Savarese, and incur fees and costs to bring this action, 
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Plaintiffs are also entitled to an award of attorneys' fees and costs of suit.   

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

 (Petition for Judicial Review) 
 

75. Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege all prior paragraphs as though fully set forth 

herein. 

 76. The Department, in misinterpreting and incorrectly applying the provisions of 

NRS 453D, NAC 453D and the related Nevada laws and regulations, has exceeded its 

jurisdiction by improperly issuing licenses to applicants that do not merit licenses under the 

provisions of NRS 453D, NAC 453D, and R092-17.  

 77. Plaintiffs are aggrieved by the decision of the Department to deny Plaintiffs’ 

Applications without proper notice, substantial evidence, or compliance with NRS 453D, NAC 

453D, R092-17, and other Nevada state laws or regulations.  

 78. There is no provision in NRS 453D, NAC 453D, or R092-17 allowing for an 

administrative appeal of the Department's decision, and apart from injunctive relief, no plain, 

speedy, and adequate remedy for the Department's improper actions.  

 79. Accordingly, Plaintiff petitions this Court for judicial review of the record on which 

the Department's denials were based, and an order providing inter alia: 

a. A determination that the decision lacked substantial evidence; 

b. A determination that the denials are void ab initio for non-compliance with 

NRS 453D, NAC 453D, R092-17, and other Nevada laws or regulations; and  

c. Such other relief as is consistent with those determinations.   

80. As the actions of the Department have necessitated that Plaintiffs retain the legal 

services of Gentile Cristalli Miller Armeni Savarese, and incur fees and costs to bring this action, 

Plaintiffs are also entitled to an award of attorneys' fees and costs of suit.   

FIFTH  CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Petition for Writ of Mandamus) 

81. Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege all prior paragraphs as though fully set forth herein.  

 82. When a governmental body fails to perform an act “that the law requires” or acts 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Gentile Cristalli  
Miller Armeni Savarese 

Attorneys At Law 
410 S. Rampart Blvd. #420 

Las Vegas, NV 89145 
(702) 880-0000 

 

 

16 of 17 
Complaint 

in an arbitrary or capricious manner, a writ of mandamus shall issue to correct the action. Nev. 

Rev. Stat. § 34.160. 

 83. The Department has failed to perform various acts that the law requires including 

but not limited to: 

a. Providing proper pre-hearing notice of the denial; and  

b. Arbitrarily and capriciously denying the applications for no legitimate reason.  

84. The Department acted arbitrarily and capriciously in the denial by performing 

and/or failing to perform the acts set forth supra, and because, inter alia: 

a. The Board lacked substantial evidence to deny Plaintiffs’ Applications; and 

b. The Board denied Plaintiffs’ Applications in order to approve the Applications 

of other competing applicants without regard to the merit of Plaintiffs’ 

Applications and the lack of merit of the Applications of other competing 

applicants. 

85. These violations of the Defendants’ legal duties were arbitrary and capricious  

actions that compel this Court to issue a Writ of Mandamus directing the Department to review  

Plaintiffs’ Applications on their merits and/or approve them. 

86. As a result of the Defendants’ unlawful and arbitrary and capricious actions, 

Plaintiff has been forced to retain legal counsel to prosecute this action and is therefore also 

entitled to its damages, costs in this suit, and an award of attorneys’ fees pursuant to NRS 

34.270. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, PLAINTIFFS pray for relief as follows: 

1. For declaratory relief as set forth above; 

2. For a preliminary and permanent injunction enjoining the enforcement of the 

denial of their Applications for licensure; 

3. For judicial review of the record and history on which the denial of those 

Applications was based; 

4.  For the issuance of a writ of mandamus;  
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5. For compensatory and special damages as set forth herein; 

6.  For attorneys’ fees and costs of suit; and  

7. For all other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.  

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Trial by jury is hereby demanded on all claims and issues so triable. 

DATED this 4th day of January, 2019. 

GENTILE CRISTALLI  
MILLER ARMENI SAVARESE 
 
 
  /s/ Vincent Savarese, III, Esq.  
DOMINIC P. GENTILE 
Nevada Bar No. 1923 
MICHAEL V. CRISTALLI 
Nevada Bar No. 6266 ____ 
ROSS MILLER 
Nevada Bar No. 8190 ____ 
VINCENT SAVARESE III 
Nevada Bar No. 2467 
410 S. Rampart Blvd., Suite 420 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89145 
Tel: (702) 880-0000 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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COMPB
ADAM K. BULT, ESQ., Nevada Bar No. 9332 
abult@bhfs.com 
MAXIMILIEN D. FETAZ, ESQ., Nevada Bar No. 12737
mfetaz@bhfs.com 
TRAVIS F. CHANCE, ESQ., Nevada Bar No. 13800 
tchance@bhfs.com 
BROWNSTEIN HYATT FARBER SCHRECK, LLP 
100 North City Parkway, Suite 1600 
Las Vegas, NV  89106-4614 
Telephone:  702.382.2101 
Facsimile:   702.382.8135 

Adam R. Fulton, Esq., Nevada Bar No. 11572 
afulton@jfnvlaw.com
JENNINGS & FULTON, LTD. 
2580 Sorrel Street 
Las Vegas, NV 89146 
Telephone:  702.979.3565 
Facsimile:   702.362.2060 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

ETW MANAGEMENT GROUP LLC, a 
Nevada limited liability company; GLOBAL 
HARMONY LLC, a Nevada limited liability 
company; GREEN LEAF FARMS 
HOLDINGS LLC, a Nevada limited liability 
company; HERBAL CHOICE INC., a Nevada 
corporation; JUST QUALITY, LLC, a Nevada 
limited liability company; LIBRA WELLNESS 
CENTER, LLC, a Nevada limited liability 
company; MOTHER HERB, INC., a Nevada 
corporation; NEVCANN LLC, a Nevada 
limited liability company; RED EARTH LLC, 
a Nevada limited liability company; THC 
NEVADA LLC, a Nevada limited liability 
company; and ZION GARDENS LLC, a 
Nevada limited liability company, 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

STATE OF NEVADA, DEPARTMENT OF 
TAXATION, a Nevada administrative agency; 
DOES 1 through 20, inclusive; and ROE 
CORPORATIONS 1 through 20, inclusive, 

Defendants.

CASE NO.:  
DEPT NO.:   

COMPLAINT 

(Exempt From Arbitration Pursuant to 
N.A.R. 3(A): Action Seeks Damages in 
Excess of $50,000 and Action Seeks 
Equitable or Extraordinary Relief)

A-19-787004-B

Department 11

Case Number: A-19-787004-B

Electronically Filed
1/4/2019 7:30 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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Plaintiffs ETW MANAGEMENT GROUP LLC (“ETW”), GLOBAL HARMONY LLC 

(“Global Harmony”), GREEN LEAF FARMS HOLDINGS LLC (“GLFH”), HERBAL CHOICE 

INC. (“Herbal Choice”), JUST QUALITY, LLC (“Just Quality”), LIBRA WELLNESS 

CENTER, LLC (“Libra”), MOTHER HERB, INC. (“Mother Herb”), NEVCANN LLC 

(“NEVCANN”), RED EARTH LLC (“Red Earth”), THC NEVADA LLC (“THCNV”), and 

ZION GARDENS LLC (“Zion”) (collectively, the “Plaintiffs”), by and through their undersigned 

counsel of record Adam K. Bult, Esq. and Travis F. Chance, Esq., of the law firm of Brownstein 

Hyatt Farber Schreck, LLP, and Adam R. Fulton, Esq., of the law firm of Jennings & Fulton, 

Ltd.,  hereby file their Complaint against the STATE OF NEVADA, DEPARTMENT OF 

TAXATION (the “DOT”), DOES 1 through 20 inclusive, and ROE CORPORATIONS 1 through 

20, inclusive, alleging and complaining as follows: 

PARTIES 

1. At all times relevant hereto, ETW is and was a limited liability company organized 

and existing under the laws of the State of Nevada and authorized to do business in Clark County, 

Nevada. 

2. At all times relevant hereto, Global Harmony is and was a limited liability 

company organized and existing under the laws of the State of Nevada and authorized to do 

business in Clark County, Nevada. 

3. At all times relevant hereto, GLFH is and was a limited liability company 

organized and existing under the laws of the State of Nevada and authorized to do business in 

Clark County, Nevada. 

4. At all times relevant hereto, Herbal Choice is and was a Nevada corporation 

authorized to do business in Clark County, Nevada. 

5. At all times relevant hereto, Just Quality is and was a limited liability company 

organized and existing under the laws of the State of Nevada and authorized to do business in 

Clark County, Nevada. 

6. At all times relevant hereto, Libra is and was a limited liability company organized 

and existing under the laws of the State of Nevada and authorized to do business in Clark County, 
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Nevada. 

7. At all times relevant hereto, Mother Herb is and was a Nevada corporation and 

authorized to do business in Clark County, Nevada. 

8. At all times relevant hereto, NEVCANN is and was a limited liability company 

organized and existing under the laws of the State of Nevada and authorized to do business in 

Clark County, Nevada. 

9. At all times relevant hereto, Red Earth is and was a limited liability company 

organized and existing under the laws of the State of Nevada and authorized to do business in 

Clark County, Nevada. 

10. At all times relevant hereto, THCNV is and was a limited liability company 

organized and existing under the laws of the State of Nevada and authorized to do business in 

Clark County, Nevada. 

11. At all times relevant hereto, Zion is and was a limited liability company organized 

and existing under the laws of the State of Nevada and authorized to do business in Clark County, 

Nevada. 

12. At all times relevant hereto, the DOT is and was an agency and political 

subdivision of the State of Nevada. 

13. The true names and capacities, whether individual, corporate, associate or 

otherwise, of Defendants Does 1-20, inclusive, and Roe Corporations 1-20, inclusive, are 

unknown to Plaintiffs, which therefore sue said Defendants by such fictitious names. Plaintiffs 

will amend this Complaint to state the true names and capacities of said fictitious Defendants 

when they have been ascertained. 

14. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and thereon allege, that each of the fictitiously 

named Defendants are responsible in some manner for the occurrences herein alleged, and that 

Plaintiffs’ damages as herein alleged were proximately caused by Defendants’ acts. Each 

reference in this Complaint to “Defendant” or “Defendants,” or a specifically named Defendant 

refers also to all Defendants sued under fictitious names. 

. . . 
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE

15. Jurisdiction is proper in this Court pursuant to the Nevada Constitution, Article 6, 

§ 6, NRS 4.370(2), NRS 30, and because the acts and omissions complained of herein occurred 

and caused harm within Clark County, Nevada. Further, the amount in controversy exceeds 

$15,000.00. 

16. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to NRS 13.020(2)-(3). 

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

17. Plaintiffs incorporate and reallege Paragraphs 1 through 16 as though fully set 

forth herein. 

The Statutory Scheme Governing Retail Marijuana Licenses 

18. In or around November 2016, the citizens of the State of Nevada approved a 

statutory ballot initiative that, inter alia, legalized the recreational use of marijuana and allowed 

for the licensing of recreational marijuana dispensaries. 

19. The statutory scheme approved by the voters was codified in NRS Chapter 453D 

and vested authority for the issuance of licenses for retail marijuana dispensaries in the DOT. 

20. NRS 453D.210 required the DOT to accept applications and issue licenses only to 

medical marijuana establishments for 18 months following the date upon which the DOT began 

to receive applications for recreational dispensaries (the “Early Start Program”). 

21. Upon information and belief, the DOT began to accept applications for 

recreational dispensary licenses on or around May 15, 2017.  

22. Beginning upon the expiration of the Early Start Program (or on or around 

November 15, 2018), the DOT was to receive and consider applications for a recreational 

dispensary license from any applicant. 

23. The DOT released the application package for non-Early Start Program applicants 

on July 6, 2018 and required those applications to be returned in complete form between 

September 7 and September 20, 2018. A true and correct copy of the application package is 

attached hereto as Exhibit 1. 

. . . 
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24. NRS 453D.210(d)(1) limits the number of retail marijuana licenses in Clark 

County to a total of 80. 

25. However, NRS 453D.210(d)(5) provides that Clark County may request that the 

DOT issue retail marijuana licenses above the limit set forth in NRS 453D.210(d)(5). 

26. As mandated by NRS 453D.210(6), “[w]hen competing applications are submitted 

for a proposed retail marijuana store within a single county, the Department shall use an 

impartial and numerically scored competitive bidding process to determine which application 

or applications among those competing will be approved.” 

27. On or around January 16, 2018, the DOT adopted regulations governing the 

issuance, suspension, or revocation of retail marijuana licenses in LCB File No. R092-17 (the 

“Regulations”). A true and correct copy of the Regulations is attached hereto as Exhibit 2.1

28. Section 80 of the Regulations relates to the DOT’s method of evaluating 

competing retail marijuana license applications. 

29. Section 80(1) of the Regulations provides that where the DOT receives competing 

applications, it will “rank the applications...in order from first to last based on compliance with 

the provisions of this chapter and chapter 453D of NRS and on the content of the applications 

relating to” several enumerated factors. 

30. The factors set forth in Section 80(1) of the Regulations that are used to rank 

competing applications (collectively, the “Factors”) are: 

a. Whether the owners, officers or board members have experience operating 

another kind of business that has given them experience which is 

applicable to the operation of a marijuana establishment; 

b. The diversity of the owners, officers or board members of the proposed 

marijuana establishment; 

c. The educational achievements of the owners, officers or board members of 

the proposed marijuana establishment; 

1 The Regulations have been adopted but have yet to be codified in the Nevada Administrative 
Code. 
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d. The financial plan and resources of the applicant, both liquid and illiquid; 

e. Whether the applicant has an adequate integrated plan for the care, quality 

and safekeeping of marijuana from seed to sale; 

f. The amount of taxes paid and other beneficial financial contributions, 

including, without limitation, civic or philanthropic involvement with this 

State or its political subdivisions, by the applicant or the owners, officers or 

board members of the proposed marijuana establishment; 

g. Whether the owners, officers or board members of the proposed marijuana 

establishment have direct experience with the operation of a medical 

marijuana establishment or marijuana establishment in this State and have 

demonstrated a record of operating such an establishment in compliance 

with the laws and regulations of this State for an adequate period of time to 

demonstrate success; 

h. The experience of key personnel that the applicant intends to employ in 

operating the type of marijuana establishment for which the applicant seeks 

a license; and 

i. Any other criteria that the DOT determines to be relevant. 

31. Aside from the Factors, there is no other competitive bidding process used by the 

DOT to evaluate competing applications. 

32. Section 80(5) of the Regulations provides that the DOT will not issue more than 

one retail marijuana license to the same person, group of persons, or entity. 

Plaintiffs’ Arbitrary Denial of Retail Marijuana Licenses 

33. Each of the Plaintiffs submitted an Application for issuance of a retail marijuana 

license after the expiration of the Early Start Program during the period specified by the DOT. 

34. On or around December 5, 2018, each of the Plaintiffs’ Applications was denied 

by identical written notices issued by the DOT. 

35. Each of the written notices from the DOT stated that “NRS 453D.210 limits the 

total number of licenses that can be issued in each local jurisdiction. This applicant was not issued 
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a conditional license because it did not achieve a score high enough to receive an available 

license...” 

36. Upon information and belief, the DOT utilized the Factors in evaluating each of 

the Applications, assigning a numerical score to each Factor. 

37. Upon information and belief, the DOT issued multiple licenses to the same entity 

or group of persons to the exclusion of other applicants, including Plaintiffs. 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Violation of Substantive Due Process 

38. Plaintiffs incorporate and reallege Paragraphs 1 through 37 as though fully set 

forth herein. 

39. The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that “no 

state [may] deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law.” 

40. Similarly, Article 1, Section 8 of the Nevada Constitution provides that “[n]o 

person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law.” 

41. Plaintiffs are persons within the meaning of the United States and Nevada 

Constitutions’ guarantees of due process. 

42. Retail marijuana licenses constitute protectable property interests under the 

Nevada and United States Constitutions. 

43. The denials of Plaintiffs’ Applications were based upon the Factors. 

44. The Factors are arbitrary, irrational, and lack impartiality. 

45. As a result of the DOT’s use of the Factors in denying Plaintiffs’ Applications, 

Plaintiffs have been deprived of their fundamental property rights in violation of the substantive 

due process guarantees of the Nevada and United States Constitutions. 

46. As a direct and proximate result of the DOT’s constitutional violations, as set forth 

hereinabove, Plaintiffs have sustained damages in an amount in excess of $15,000.00. 

47. Plaintiffs have been forced to retain counsel to prosecute this action and are thus 

entitled to an award of attorneys’ fees and costs as provided by applicable law. 

. . . 
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SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Violation of Procedural Due Process 

48. Plaintiffs incorporate and reallege Paragraphs 1 through 47 as though fully set 

forth herein. 

49. The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that “no 

state [may] deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law.” 

50. Similarly, Article 1, Section 8 of the Nevada Constitution provides that “[n]o 

person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law.” 

51. Plaintiffs are persons within the meaning of the United States and Nevada 

Constitutions’ guarantees of due process. 

52. Retail marijuana licenses constitute protectable property interests under the 

Nevada and United States Constitutions. 

53. NRS 453D, in conjunction with the Regulations, govern the application for and the 

issuance of retail marijuana licenses within the State of Nevada. 

54. Under those provisions, the DOT denied Plaintiffs’ Applications for a retail 

marijuana license without notice or a hearing. 

55. Neither NRS 453D nor the Regulations require the DOT to provide Plaintiffs with 

notice of denial of their Applications prior to the effectiveness of the same. 

56. Neither NRS 453D nor the Regulations provide for a mechanism through which 

Plaintiffs may have their Applications fully and finally determined, either before or after denial of 

the same. 

57. As a result of the denial of Plaintiffs’ Applications without notice or a hearing, 

Plaintiffs have been denied their right to procedural due process guaranteed by the Nevada and 

United States Constitutions.  

58. As a direct and proximate result of the DOT’s constitutional violations, as set forth 

hereinabove, Plaintiffs have sustained damages in an amount in excess of $15,000.00. 

59. Plaintiffs have been forced to retain counsel to prosecute this action and are thus 

entitled to an award of attorneys’ fees and costs as provided by applicable law. 
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THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Violation of Equal Protection 

60. Plaintiffs incorporate and reallege Paragraphs 1 through 59 as though fully set 

forth herein. 

61. The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that no 

“state [may]...deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.” 

62. Similarly, Article 4, Section 21 of the Nevada Constitution requires that all laws be 

“general and of uniform operation throughout the State.” 

63. Plaintiffs are persons within the meaning of the Nevada and United States 

Constitutions’ guarantees of equal protection. 

64. The DOT utilized the Factors when evaluating Plaintiffs’ Applications. 

65. As applied to Plaintiffs’ Applications, the Factors affect Plaintiffs’ fundamental 

property rights and interests. 

66. The Factors contain arbitrary, partial, and unreasonable classifications that bear no 

rational relationship to a legitimate governmental interest. 

67. The Factors contain arbitrary, partial, and unreasonable classifications that are not 

narrowly tailored to the advancement of any compelling interest. 

68. The application of the Factors to Plaintiffs’ Applications violated Plaintiffs’ rights 

to equal protection of the law. 

69. As a direct and proximate result of the DOT’s constitutional violations, as set forth 

hereinabove, Plaintiffs have sustained damages in an amount in excess of $15,000.00. 

70. Plaintiffs have been forced to retain counsel to prosecute this action and are thus 

entitled to an award of attorneys’ fees and costs as provided by applicable law. 

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Declaratory Judgment 

71. Plaintiffs incorporate and reallege Paragraphs 1 through 70 as though fully set 

forth herein. 

72. Under NRS 30.010, et seq., the Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act, any person 
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whose rights, status or other legal relations are affected by a statute, municipal ordinance, contract 

or franchise, may have determined any question of construction or validity arising under the 

instrument, statute, ordinance, contract or franchise and obtain a declaration of rights, status or 

other legal relations thereunder. 

73. The DOT enacted the Regulations, including the Factors and Section 80(5) of the 

Regulations, pursuant to NRS 453D.200 and NRS 453D.210(6). 

74. NRS 453D.210(6) requires that the Factors be “an impartial and numerically 

scored competitive bidding process.” 

75. Plaintiffs contend that the DOT violated NRS 453D.210(6) because the Factors are 

not impartial and are instead partial, arbitrary, and discretionary, in contravention of NRS 

453D.210(6). 

76. Plaintiffs further contend that the DOT violated NRS 453D.210(6) because the 

Factor evaluation procedure is not a competitive bidding process, as required by NRS 

453D.210(6). 

77. Plaintiffs further contend that the DOT violated Section 80(5) of the Regulations 

because multiple retail marijuana licenses were issued to the same entity or group of persons. 

78. The DOT contends that that Factors are compliant with NRS 453D.210(6) and that 

all applications it approved were done so in a valid manner. 

79. The foregoing issues are ripe for judicial determination because there is a 

substantial controversy between parties having adverse legal interests of sufficient immediacy and 

reality to warrant the issuance of a declaratory judgment. 

80. Accordingly, Plaintiffs request a declaratory judgment from this Court that: (1) the 

Factors do not comply with NRS 453D.210(6) because they are not impartial or a competitive 

bidding process; and (2) the DOT violated Section 80(5) of the Regulations by issuing multiple 

retail marijuana licenses to the same entity or group of persons. 

81. Plaintiffs have been forced to retain counsel to prosecute this action and are thus 

entitled to an award of attorneys’ fees and costs as provided by applicable law. 

. . . 
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for relief from this Court as follows: 

1. For an award of compensatory damages in an amount to be determined at 

trial for the DOT’s violation of Plaintiffs’ substantive due process rights, as 

set forth herein; 

2. For an award of compensatory damages in an amount to be determined at 

trial for the DOT’s violation of Plaintiffs’ procedural due process rights, as 

set forth herein; 

3. For an award of compensatory damages in an amount to be determined at 

trial for the DOT’s violation of Plaintiffs’ rights to equal protection of the 

law, as set forth herein; 

4. For relief in the form of a judgment from this Court that: (1) the Factors do 

not comply with NRS 453D.210(6) because they are not impartial or a 

competitive bidding process; and (2) the DOT violated Section 80(5) of the 

Regulations by issuing multiple retail marijuana licenses to the same entity 

or group of persons; 

5. For an award of attorneys’ fees and costs in bringing the instant action as 

provided by applicable law; and 

6. For any additional relief this Court deems just and proper. 

DATED this 4th day of January, 2019. 

BROWNSTEIN HYATT FARBER SCHRECK, LLP 

/s/ Adam K. Bult
ADAM K. BULT, ESQ., Nevada Bar No. 9332 
MAXIMILIEN D. FETAZ, ESQ., Nevada Bar No. 12737
TRAVIS F. CHANCE, ESQ., Nevada Bar No. 13800 

JENNINGS & FULTON, LTD. 
Adam R. Fulton, Esq., Nevada Bar No. 11572 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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David R. Koch (NV Bar #8830) 
Steven B. Scow (NV Bar #9906) 
Brody R. Wight (NV Bar #13615) 
Daniel G. Scow (NV Bar #14614) 
KOCH & SCOW LLC 
11500 S. Eastern Ave., Suite 210 
Henderson, Nevada 89052 
Telephone:  702.318.5040 
Facsimile:  702.318.5039 
dkoch@kochscow.com 
sscow@kochscow.com  
 
Attorneys for Defendant-Intervenor/Counterclaimant 
Nevada Organic Remedies, LLC 
 

 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
MM DEVELOPMENT COMPANY, INC., a 
Nevada corporation, LIVFREE WELLNESS 
LLC, dba The Dispensary, a Nevada Limited 
liability company, 
 

Plaintiff, 
vs. 
 
STATE OF NEVADA, DEPARTMENT OF 
TAXATION; AND DOES 1 through 10; and 
ROE CORPORATIONS 1 through 10. 
 

Defendants, 
 

and 
 
NEVADA ORGANIC REMEDIES, LLC 
 
                                     Defendant-Intervenor. 
_________________________________________ 
 
NEVADA ORGANIC REMEDIES, LLC, 
 

Counterclaimant, 
vs. 
 
MM DEVELOPMENT COMPANY, INC., a 
Nevada corporation, LIVFREE WELLNESS 
LLC, dba The Dispensary, a Nevada Limited 
liability company. 
 
   Counter-Defendants 

Case No.  A-18-785818-W 
Dept. No. 9 

 
 
 

ANSWER TO PLAINTIFFS’ FIRST 
AMENDED COMPLAINT  
AND COUNTERCLAIM  
 
 

Case Number: A-18-785818-W

Electronically Filed
3/15/2019 11:14 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 
 -2-  

 

Defendant-Intervenor Nevada Organic Remedies, LLC (“NOR”) files its Answer 

to Plaintiff’s Complaint as follows: 

I. PARTIES & JURISDICTION 

1. NOR does not have sufficient knowledge or information as to the truth or 

falsity of these allegations and on that basis denies these allegations.  

2. NOR does not have sufficient knowledge or information as to the truth or 

falsity of these allegations and on that basis denies these allegations. 

3. NOR admits the allegations of paragraph 3.  

4. NOR does not have sufficient knowledge or information as to the truth or 

falsity of these allegations and on that basis denies these allegations.  

    II. GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

5. To the extent this paragraph contains legal conclusions or statements 

regarding the content of the laws or regulations referenced, no response is necessary.  To 

the extent the allegations accurately state the laws or regulations referenced, NOR admits 

the allegations.  

6. To the extent this paragraph contains legal conclusions or statements 

regarding the content of the laws or regulations referenced, no response is necessary.  To 

the extent the allegations accurately state the laws or regulations referenced, NOR admits 

the allegations.   

7. To the extent this paragraph contains legal conclusions or statements 

regarding the content of the laws or regulations referenced, no response is necessary.  To 

the extent the allegations accurately state the laws or regulations referenced, NOR admits 

the allegations.  

8. To the extent this paragraph contains legal conclusions or statements 

regarding the content of the laws or regulations referenced, no response is necessary.  To 

the extent the allegations accurately state the laws or regulations referenced, NOR admits 

the allegations. 
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9. To the extent this paragraph contains legal conclusions or statements 

regarding the content of the laws or regulations referenced, no response is necessary.  To 

the extent the allegations accurately state the laws or regulations referenced, NOR admits 

the allegations.  

10. To the extent this paragraph contains legal conclusions or statements 

regarding the content of the laws or regulations referenced, no response is necessary.  To 

the extent the allegations accurately state the laws or regulations referenced, NOR admits 

the allegations. 

11. NOR does not have sufficient knowledge or information as to the truth or 

falsity of these allegations and on that basis denies these allegations.  

12. NOR does not have sufficient knowledge or information as to the truth or 

falsity of these allegations and on that basis denies these allegations.  

13. NOR does not have sufficient knowledge or information as to the truth or 

falsity of these allegations and on that basis denies these allegations.   

14. NOR does not have sufficient knowledge or information as to the truth or 

falsity of these allegations and on that basis denies these allegations.   

15. NOR does not have sufficient knowledge or information as to the truth or 

falsity of these allegations and on that basis denies these allegations.   

16. NOR does not have sufficient knowledge or information as to the truth or 

falsity of these allegations and on that basis denies these allegations.  

17. NOR does not have sufficient knowledge or information as to the truth or 

falsity of these allegations and on that basis denies these allegations.   

18. NOR denies the allegations contained in this paragraph to the extent such 

allegations pertain to NOR, and to the extent the allegations pertain to any other applicant, 

NOR does not have sufficient knowledge or information as to the truth or falsity of these 

allegations and on that basis denies these allegations. 

19. NOR denies the allegations contained in this paragraph to the extent such 

allegations pertain to NOR, and to the extent the allegations pertain to any other applicant, 
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NOR does not have sufficient knowledge or information as to the truth or falsity of these 

allegations and on that basis denies these allegations. 

20. NOR denies the allegations contained in this paragraph to the extent such 

allegations pertain to NOR, and to the extent the allegations pertain to any other applicant, 

NOR does not have sufficient knowledge or information as to the truth or falsity of these 

allegations and on that basis denies these allegations. 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Declaratory Relief) 

21. NOR repeats and reasserts all prior responses as though fully set forth 

herein.  

22. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary. To 

the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations. 

23. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.  To 

the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations.  

24. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.

 To the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations. 

25. NOR denies the allegations contained in this paragraph to the extent such 

allegations pertain to NOR, and to the extent the allegations pertain to any other applicant, 

this paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.  To the extent a 

response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations. 

26. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.  To 

the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations. 

27. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.  To 

the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations. 

28. This paragraph does not contain factual allegations or legal conclusions, and 

no response is necessary.  To the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations. 

29. This paragraph does not contain factual allegations or legal conclusions, and 

no response is necessary.  To the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations. 
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30. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.  To 

the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations.  

31. NOR does not have sufficient knowledge or information as to the truth or 

falsity of these allegations and on that basis denies these allegations.  

  
SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Injunctive Relief) 

32. NOR repeats and reasserts all prior responses as though fully set forth 

herein.  

33. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.  

34. NOR does not have sufficient knowledge or information as to the truth or 

falsity of these allegations and on that basis denies these allegations.   

35. NOR admits the allegations contained in this paragraph.   

36. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.  To 

the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations. 

37. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.  To 

the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations.  

38. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.

 To the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations. 

    
THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Violation of Procedural Due Process) 

39. NOR repeats and reasserts all prior responses as though fully set forth 

herein.  

40. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.  To 

the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations.   

41. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.  To 

the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations.   

42. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.  To 

the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations.   
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43. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.  To 

the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations.   

44. NOR does not have sufficient knowledge or information as to the truth or 

falsity of these allegations and on that basis denies these allegations.    

45. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.  To 

the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations. 

  
FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Violation of Substantive Due Process) 

46. NOR repeats and reasserts all prior responses as though fully set forth 

herein.  

47. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.  To 

the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations.   

48. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.  To 

the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations.   

49. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.  To 

the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations.   

50. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.  To 

the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations.  

 
FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Equal Protection Violation) 

51. NOR repeats and reasserts all prior responses as though fully set forth 

herein.  

52. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.  To 

the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations.   

53. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.  To 

the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations.   

54. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.  To 

the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations.   
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55. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.  To 

the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations.   

56. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.  To 

the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations. 

   
SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Petition for Judicial Review) 

57. NOR repeats and reasserts all prior responses as though fully set forth 

herein. 

58. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.  To 

the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations.   

59. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.  To 

the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations.   

60. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.  To 

the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations.   

61. This paragraph does not contain factual allegations or legal conclusions, and 

no response is necessary. 

62. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.  To 

the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations.  

 
SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Petition for Writ of Mandamus) 

63. NOR repeats and reasserts all prior responses as though fully set forth 

herein. 

64. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.  To 

the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations.   

65. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.  To 

the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations.   

66. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.  To 

the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations.  
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67. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.  To 

the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations.   

68. This paragraph contains legal conclusions, and no response is necessary.  To 

the extent a response is necessary, NOR denies the allegations.   

GENERAL DENIAL 

 To the extent a further response is required to any allegation set forth in the 

Complaint, NOR denies such allegation. 

 

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES 

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE NO. 1 

 The First Amended Complaint and each claim for relief fails to state a claim upon 

which relief can be granted. 

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE NO. 2 

 The actions of Defendants the State of Nevada and Nevada Department of 

Taxation were all official acts that were done in compliance with applicable laws and 

regulations. 

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE NO. 3 

 Plaintiffs’ claims are barred because Plaintiff has failed to exhaust administrative 

remedies. 

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE NO. 4 

 Plaintiffs have failed to join necessary and indispensable parties to this litigation 

under NRCP 19 as the Court cannot grant any of Plaintiffs’ claims without affecting the 

rights and privileges of those parties who received the licenses at issue as well as other 

third parties. 

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE NO. 5 

The actions of Defendants the State of Nevada and Nevada Department of 

Taxation were not arbitrary or capricious, and Defendants had a rational basis for all of 

the actions taken in the licensing process at issue. 
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AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE NO. 6 

The Defendants the State of Nevada and Nevada Department of Taxation are 

immune from suit when performing the functions at issue in this case.  

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE NO. 7 

Plaintiffs have no constitutional rights to obtain privileged licenses. 

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE NO. 8 

Injunctive relief is unavailable to Plaintiffs, because the Nevada Department of 

Taxation has already completed the tasks of issuing the conditional licenses.  

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE NO. 9 

Mandamus is not available to compel the members of the executive branch to 

perform non-ministerial, discretionary tasks. 

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE NO. 10 

Plaintiffs are not entitled to Judicial Review on the denial of a license. 

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE NO. 11 

Declaratory relief will not give the Plaintiffs the relief that they are seeking. 

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE NO. 12 

 Because this case is in its infancy, NOR has not yet discovered all relevant facts. 

Additional facts may support the assertion of additional affirmative defenses, including, 

but not limited to, those enumerated in NRCP 8(c). NOR reserves the right to assert such 

affirmative defenses as discovery proceeds. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Defendant-Intervenor prays for judgment as follows: 

 1.  That Plaintiffs take nothing by way of their First Amended Complaint and 

that the same be dismissed with prejudice; 

 2.  For costs of suit and reasonable attorneys’ fees; and 

/// 

/// 
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 3.  For any other such relief as this Court deems just and proper under the 

circumstances. 

 
DATED: March 15, 2019    KOCH & SCOW, LLC 

By: /s/ David R. Koch               X 
David R. Koch, Esq. 
Attorneys for Nevada Organic  
Remedies, LLC 

 
 

COUNTERCLAIM 

Nevada Organic Remedies, LLC (“NOR”) asserts its Counterclaim against MM 

Development Company, Inc. (“MM”) and Livfree Wellness, LLC, dba The Dispensary 

(“Livfree”) and alleges as follows: 

PARTIES 

1. NOR is, and at all relevant times was, a Nevada limited liability 

company doing business in Clark County. 

2. NOR is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges that MM is, and 

at all relevant times was, a Nevada corporation doing business in Clark County. 

3. NOR is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges that Livfree is, 

and at all relevant times was, a Nevada limited liability company doing business in 

Clark County. 

JURISDICTION  

4. Jurisdiction is proper in this Court as this Counterclaim is brought in 

response to an action presently pending before this Court, and pursuant to NRCP 

8(a)(1), no new jurisdictional support is needed.    

/// 

/// 

/// 

 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 
 -11-  

 

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

NOR Applies for and Is Awarded Conditional Licenses 

5. On August 16, 2018, the Department issued notice for an application 

period within which the Department sought applications from qualified applicants for 

recreational marijuana retail store licenses throughout various jurisdictions in Nevada.  

6. The application period for those licenses opened on September 7, 2018 

and closed on September 20, 2018.  

7. The Department allocated 10 licenses for Unincorporated Clark County, 

Nevada; 10 licenses for Las Vegas, Nevada; 6 licenses for Henderson, Nevada; 5 

licenses for North Las Vegas, Nevada; 6 licenses for Reno, Nevada; 1 license for 

Sparks, Nevada; and 1 license for Nye County, Nevada.  The Department stated that it 

would issue conditional licenses to successful applicants on or before December 5, 

2018. 

8. NOR timely submitted applications for 8 recreational marijuana retail 

store licenses during the September 2018 application period in the following Nevada 

jurisdictions: Unincorporated Clark County, City of Las Vegas, City of North Las 

Vegas, City of Henderson, City of Reno, Nye County, Carson City, and City of Sparks.  

9. On December 5, 2018, the Department sent letters to NOR indicating that 

the Department intended to conditionally approve NOR’s applications for licenses in 

Unincorporated Clark County, City of Las Vegas, City of North Las Vegas, City of 

Henderson, City of Reno, Carson City and Nye County.  

10. NOR is informed and believes that the Department issued NOR seven 

conditional licenses because NOR scored second highest among overall applicants in 

six jurisdictions and had the highest score for any applicant in Nye County. 

/// 

/// 
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Current Regulations Require NOR to Receive  

Final Inspections Within 12 Months 

11. Pursuant to current regulations, NOR has 12 months to receive a final 

inspection for a marijuana establishment under its conditional licenses.  As provided 

in R092-17, Sec. 87, “If a marijuana establishment has not received a final inspection 

within 12 months after the date on which the Department issued a license to the 

marijuana establishment, the marijuana establishment must surrender the license to 

the Department. The Department may extend the period specified in this subsection if 

the Department, in its discretion, determines that extenuating circumstances prevented 

the marijuana establishment from receiving a final inspection within the period 

specified in this subsection.”  

12. Accordingly, NOR intends to proceed with obtaining a final inspection of 

a marijuana establishment no later than December 4, 2019, in each jurisdiction in which 

it was awarded a license.   

MM and Livfree File the Present Action to Impede 

Licensees’ Rights to Open a Marijuana Establishment 

13. The present lawsuit is an attempt by MM and Livfree to delay or hinder 

the process and timing for licensees, such as NOR, of opening a marijuana establishment 

under their approved conditional licenses.  MM and Livfree contend that they had 

received high scores for medical marijuana establishments during the 2015 application 

review process, and that the “Department improperly granted ‘conditional’ licenses to 

applicants who were ranked substantially lower than Plaintiffs on the 2015 rankings,” as 

if the 2015 rankings should be simply transferred over to the new 2018 application 

process.   

14. The wholly unfounded claims made by MM and Livfree in this action are 

an attempt to manufacture a dispute in the hope of undermining the rights of NOR and 
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other successful applicants.  MM and Livfree have asserted factually deficient 

allegations that they should have received one or more of the licenses that were awarded 

to NOR (or other licensees) without any substantive facts that demonstrate any 

impropriety or issue with the granting of the licenses to NOR.     

15. MM and Livfree have not asserted (nor can they assert) any facts specific to 

NOR to demonstrate that NOR should not have received the conditional licenses that it 

was granted, yet MM and Livfree have sought relief that might limit or preclude NOR 

from being able to move forward with obtaining final inspections for marijuana 

establishments under current regulations.    

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Declaratory Relief) 

16. NOR repeats and reincorporates by reference all previous allegations of 

this Counterclaim. 

17. A justiciable controversy exists sufficient to warrant a declaratory 

judgment pursuant to Nevada’s Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act, NRS 30.010, et seq.  

18. NOR has received conditional licenses from the Department of Taxation to 

open marijuana establishments in seven jurisdictions in the State pursuant to statute and 

regulation.   

19. MM and Livfree contend that the Department of Taxation “must” issue a 

conditional license to each of them in at least six jurisdictions, which would necessarily 

deprive NOR of a license in one or more of the jurisdictions in which it has received a 

license.   

20. MM and Livfree have asserted no facts specific to NOR that would provide 

any valid basis to receive the relief requested as it relates to NOR.   

21. NOR requests a declaratory judgment to determine its rights, status, or 

other legal relations under the applicable statutes and regulations with respect to the 
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unfounded dispute brought by MM and Livfree.  Such a declaratory judgment will 

eliminate any false and untenable impediments that might otherwise potentially delay 

the opening of a marijuana establishment within the specified regulatory time period.   

22. NOR has been required to retain counsel to bring these claims and is 

entitled to recover its fees and costs incurred in pursuit of these claims.   

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 Wherefore, NOR prays for relief as follows: 

1. A declaratory judgment from the Court that NOR has a valid conditional 

license under applicable statutes and regulations and may proceed with opening and 

obtaining a final inspection for a marijuana establishment, 

2. Costs and fees incurred in bringing and pursuing its claims herein, and 

3. Any further and additional relief that the Court may award.  

 
 
DATED: March 15, 2019    KOCH & SCOW, LLC 

By: /s/ David R. Koch               X 
David R. Koch, Esq. 
Attorneys for Counterclaimant  
Nevada Organic Remedies, LLC 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
I, the undersigned, declare under penalty of perjury, that I am over the age of 

eighteen (18) years, and I am not a party to, nor interested in, this action.  I certify that on 
March 15, 2019, I caused the foregoing document entitled: ANSWER TO PLAINTIFFS’ 
FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT AND COUNTERCLAIM to be served as follows: 
 

[X]      Pursuant to EDCR 8.05(a) and 8.05(f), to be electronically served through 
the Eighth Judicial District court’s electronic filing system, with the date 
and time of the electronic service substituted for the date and place of 
deposit in in the mail; and/or; 

 [    ] by placing same to be deposited for mailing in the United States   
  Mail, in a sealed envelope upon which first class postage was   
  prepaid in Henderson, Nevada; and/or 
 [    ] Pursuant to EDCR 7.26, to be sent via facsimile; and/or 
 [    ] hand-delivered to the attorney(s) listed below at the address    

   indicated below; 
 [    ] to be delivered overnight via an overnight delivery service in lieu of  

             delivery by mail to the addressee (s); and or: 
 [    ] by electronic mailing to:  
 

Michele L. Caro  mcaro@ag.nv.gov  
  David J. Pope  dpope@ag.nv.gov  
  Vivienne Rakowsky  vrakowsky@ag.nv.gov  
  Debra K. Turman  dturman@ag.nv.gov  
  Robert E. Werbicky  rwerbicky@ag.nv.gov  
  Danielle Wright  dwright2@ag.nv.gov 

Ali Augustine  a.augustine@kempjones.com  
  Alisa Hayslett  a.hayslett@kempjones.com  
  Nathanael R Rulis  n.rulis@kempjones.com  
  Patricia Stoppard  p.stoppard@kempjones.com 

Brandon Lopipero  bml@mgalaw.com  
  Margaret A McLetchie maggie@nvlitigation.com 
 MGA Docketing  docket@mgalaw.com 
 

Executed on March 15, 2019 at Henderson, Nevada. 
 
       /s/ Andrea Eshenbaugh  
       Andrea Eshenbaugh 
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James J. Pisanelli, Esq., Bar No. 4027 
JJP@pisanellibice.com  
Todd L. Bice, Esq., Bar No. 4534 
TLB@pisanellibice.com 
Jordan T. Smith, Esq., Bar No. 12097 
JTS@pisanellibice.com 
PISANELLI BICE PLLC 
400 South 7th Street, Suite 300 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 
Telephone:  702.214.2100 
Facsimile:    702.214.2101 
 
Attorneys for Defendants in Intervention, 
Integral Associates LLC d/b/a Essence Cannabis Dispensaries, 
Essence Tropicana, LLC, Essence Henderson, LLC 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

SERENITY WELLNESS CENTER, LLC, a 
Nevada limited liability company, TGIG, LLC, 
a Nevada limited liability company, NULEAF 
INCLINE DISPENSARY, LLC, a Nevada 
limited liability company, NEVADA 
HOLISTIC MEDICINE, LLC, a Nevada 
limited liability company, TRYKE 
COMPANIES SO NV, LLC, a Nevada limited 
liability company, TRYKE COMPANIES 
RENO, LLC, a Nevada limited liability 
company, PARADISE WELLNESS CENTER, 
LLC, a Nevada limited liability company, GBS 
NEVADA PARTNERS, LLC, a Nevada 
limited liability company, FIDELIS 
HOLDINGS, LLC, a Nevada limited liability 
company, GRAVITAS NEVADA, LLC, a 
Nevada limited liability company, NEVADA 
PURE, LLC, a Nevada limited liability 
company, MEDIFARM, LLC, a Nevada limited 
liability company, DOE PLAINTIFFS I 
through X; and ROE ENTITY PLAINTIFFS I 
through X, 
 
  Plaintiffs, 
 
vs. 
 
THE STATE OF NEVADA, DEPARTMENT 
OF TAXATION, 
 
  Defendants. 

Case No.: A-19-786962-B 
Dept. No.: XI 
 
NOTICE OF ENTRY  
 
 

 
INTEGRAL ASSOCIATES LLC d/b/a 
ESSENCE CANNABIS DISPENSARIES, a 
Nevada limited liability company; ESSENCE 

 

Case Number: A-19-786962-B

Electronically Filed
8/28/2019 1:38 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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TROPICANA, LLC, a Nevada limited liability 
company; ESSENCE HENDERSON, LLC, a 
Nevada limited liability company; CPCM 
HOLDINGS, LLC d/b/a THRIVE CANNABIS 
MEDICAL, LLC, a Nevada limited liability 
company; and CHEYENNE MEDICAL, LLC, 
a Nevada limited liability company, 
 
  Defendants in Intervention. 
 
 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that a "Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law Granting 

Preliminary Injunction" was entered in the above-captioned matter on August 23, 2019, a true and 

correct copy of which is attached hereto.   

 DATED this 28th day of August, 2019. 

      PISANELLI BICE PLLC 
 
 
      By:  /s/ Todd L. Bice     
       James J. Pisanelli, Esq., Bar No. 4027 

Todd L. Bice, Esq., Bar No. 4534 
Jordan T. Smith, Esq., Bar No. 12097 

       400 South 7th Street, Suite 300 
       Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 
 
      Attorneys for Defendants in Intervention, 

Integral Associates LLC d/b/a Essence Cannabis 
Dispensaries, Essence Tropicana, LLC, Essence 
Henderson, LLC 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that I am an employee of Pisanelli Bice PLLC, and that on this 28th 

day of August, 2019, I caused to be served via the Court's e-filing/e-service system true and 

correct copies of the above NOTICE OF ENTRY to all parties listed on the Court's Master 

Service List. 

 
 
 

       /s/ Shannon Dinkel     
      An employee of Pisanelli Bice PLLC 



Case Number: A-19-786962-B

Electronically Filed
8/23/2019 2:03 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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